Bailout Over France and the Journey Home

by

Jack W. Stead
Staff Sergeant, USAAF

Undated

This is the story, as written by Jack Stead, based upon his experiences while stationed
with the 8th Air Force, 447th Bomb Group, 709th Squadron at Rattlesden, England. On
April 27, 1944, during what was to have been a short mission, he was shot down over
France, bailed out, hid in the countryside from the Germans, and was ultimately rescued
by the French Underground. Marcel and Paulette Guyon, who received the Air Forces
Escape and Evasion Society Citations of Remembrance for their aid to Allied airmen,
were instrumental in moving him to Paris where they put him in touch with a French
escape line that guided him to Spain. The British naval base at Gibraltar was his next
stop and then on to England. There he rejoined his unit and returned to the United
States. It was a journey of about 3 months, according to the record. Jack’'s story was
discovered among Guyon family memorabilia in August of 2021 and forwarded to the
Air Forces Escape and Evasion Society (AFEES) for posting.
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8 Une inerveilleuse histoire
d’amitié et de reconnaissance
vient de trouver son aboutis-
sement dans notre village.

Tout a commencé en 1944,
M. et Mme Marcel Guyon ap-
partenaient au réserau de ré-
sistance qui aidait les avia-
teurs alliés tombés. Lun
d’eux, Jack Steand, américain
&gé de 23 ans, son avion g été
abattu et tombé en Norman-
die.

I a ét# retouvé par Mme
Guyon et un ami, M. Jean
Crouzet i Séri-Fontaine, ra-
mené & Paris par M, Guyon et
hébergé pendant 21 jours
avant d’éfre pris en charge
par le réseau.

M. Steand n'a jamais oubli€,
en 1983, il s’est rendu & Paris
POUT TetTouver ses sauveteirs
qui s’étaient retirds A Saint-Ju-
lien-de-Cassagnas.

En 1992, M. Steand a obtenu

Rt
e SRR IS

avec son épouse Jane, pour ve-
Nir LEmoigner sa reconnais-
sance a ceux qui avaient ris-

ti_e de M. et Mme Guyon qui
nont pas dévoilé leur rdle
pendant P'occupation,

qué ]c;ur viec pour lui. Trés
touchds et émus par Ia modes-

Nous souhaitons & cux tous,
une longue amitig.

leur adresse et i a pris I'avion

Saint-Julien-De-Cassagnas, 8.10.1992
Extraordinary Reunion

A wonderful story of friendship and recognition has just found its culmination in our
village. It all started in 1944. Mr. and Mrs. Marcel Guyon belonged to the Resistance
network which helped the Allied aviators who had been shot down. One of them was a
23-year-old American, Jack Stead, whose plane was shot down and crashed in
Normandy. He was found by Mrs. Guyon and a friend, Jean Crouzet, in Seri-Fontaine,
brought back to Paris by Mr. Guyon, and hosted for 21 days before being taken care of
by the Resistance network. Mr. Stead, who has never forgotten, in 1983 went to Paris
to find his rescuers who had retired to Saint-Julien-de-Cassagnas. In 1992 Mr. Stead
got their address and he flew to France with his wife Jane to show his appreciation to
those who had risked their lives for him. We are very touched and moved by the
modesty of Mr. and Mrs. Guyon who did not reveal their role during the occupation. We

wish them al! a long friendship.
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THE AIR FORCES
ESCAPE AND EVASION SOCIETY
AWARDS THIS CITATION OF REMEMBRANCE TO

Paulette Guyon / Marcel Guyon
for outstanding courage in coming to the aid of

United States airmen during the period 1942 - 1945

We can never repay you, but we will never forget
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I write this, not as a tribute to any personal courage or glory, but
at the insistance of my family, who for many years have urged me to set

this down before it is lost,either by a loss of memory, or my demise.

Before I begin, I wish you toO understand that for many years it was
not possible to relate these events, due to orders from the U.S. Army, that
nothing pe revealed until officially released. This was done to protect
those brave people that aided us in that hour of greatest need. Had they
heen discovered, they would have forfeited their lives. The Germans would

have seen to that.
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This is the story of Jack W. Stead, Army serial #365 545 38 ,
stationed with the 8th Air Force, 447th Bomb Group, 709th Squadron at
Rattlesden, England,

Wnen I was first assigned to the Alr Corps, I had no intentlon of ever
climbing into any kind of aircraft. It was not because I had any
preconceived notion on  the subject, but rather that 1 was very busy
learning how to become a soldier. While in basic training in Clearwater,
Florida, I made friends with a fellow and decided to apply to the same
school as he so we could remain together through training. The school was
Armament where we would learn to care for the guns used on the planes as
well as all types of bombs.

The one thing the army does not do is that which you think it will do.
My friend shipped out ahead of me, and there I was, committed and left
behind. In about two weeks I received orders to proceed to Buckley Field
near Denver, Colorado. While attending the school there I saw a notice on
the bulletin board asking for volunteers for flying crew members. The idea
sounded great to me so I signed up, was tested, passed the requirements and

was slated for air training after finishing the armament schcol.

Gunnery school followed and then I was assigned to a crew for further
training in a B~17 heavy bomber. There were ten men on the plane and I was
assigned to a waist gun position, meaning I operated frem the niddle of the
plane, firing out a side window. We campleted our training in the States,
were formed into a squadron, and a group, and sent off to England to do our
part in the conflict to rid the world of Hitler and Tojo. I did not have a
worry in the world, after all I was young and nothing could happen to me. I
merely wanted to get the mess over with and get back to my wife and
daughter.

when we arrived in England, we set up our base and flew our first
mission on Christmas Eve of 1943. As was the custcm, we were given an

experienced pilot and navigator for the first two missions which meant that
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our co—-pilot and navigator were two missions short and we wanted to finich
together. At that time when a crew finished 25 missions they were allowed
tc go back to the States together. We never realized that our chances of
finishing were slim and almost none. Our two men volunteered for two
missions to make up their shortage but as luck would have it they were both
lost on the second volunteer flight. Now we were in a position where if we
were to fly tcgether they would assign two men to us, otherwise we
ourselves would be used as replacements and would fly with crews we did not
know or train with. This is the status that I operated under, sometimes
flying with my own crew , other times being used as a substitute crew
member to £111 out another crew that was having a problem with manpower or
sometimes I flew with a new replacement crew. Under this formula I finished
twelve missions , almost half way through, maybe the Good Lord was with me
after all

We had been flying long and dangerous missions for many weeks and our
losses were heavy. We were going deep into Germany , even to Berlin, to
give Hitler scome of his own medicine. He always claimed that his capitol
would never be a target but we proved him wrong on this statement. These
deep raids were hard on the equipment as well as the men. We were at the
very limit of our range for fuel and we lost a lot of planes due to a
shortage of fuel. Many were forced to ditch (this means to land in the
water) by going intc the Channel between England and France. Many planes
were lost but a lot of crew survived and were picked up by Air, Sea Rescue
who patrolled the area whenever the planes were out on missions. Our first
few missions were flown without any air support from our own fighter planes
because we had nothing that could do the job. Our first support came when
they had some P-38 fighters fly with us but their range was very short so
the Germans just waited until they left us, and then had their field day.
Between the flak and the fighters we were under constant attack. Soon we
had fighter support fram P-51's and P-47's that were the latest in United
States attack planes. They had extra fuel tanks carried on the wing tips
that could be jettisoned if they came under attack. These planes made the
missions much more endurable since we had same help against the enemy
fighters. There was nothing we could do about the flak from the ground
except try and fly in an area that was more lightly defended. The target
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areas were fiercely defended and we had to fly through it and drop our
bambs. ’

On April 27th, 1944, our group was scheduled for a short mission over
France to attack some installations the Germmans were building to be used
for launching a new type weapon that was to be used against the English. At
the time we did not know just what it was or how it functioned but it later
proved to be what 1s now refered to as Buzz Bambs. These were actually a
bemb with wings attached and a crude type jet engine to drive it. Now, this
mission was only to last about four hours, so I would be home at the base
for lunch with another one to my credit and a little closer to that magic

number 25 we were all hoping to reach before our luck ran out.

When we reported for briefing prior to the flight, I was advised that
I would be flying with another crew and in the bombardier position since it
was a new replacement crew and these two positions would be filled by
experienced men, the same as our crew had been handled. The reason I was
assigned to the bombardier position was due to the fact that I had been
trained in the bombs, fuses, bonb racks, shackles as well as the
intervolometer (the unit that controlled the sequence of the bomb release)
so the armament trained persconnel was used to campensate for the heavy loss
of trained bombardiers, who were officers. These men had heavy losses
because we were experiencing concentrated frontal attacks from the German
planes as well as a lot of flak damage to the nose of the plane. We also
had breakage of the plexiglass in the nose due to the falling shell casings
from the machine guns in the formation. Many of the guns ejected the spent
Jcasings out of the plane. The plexiglass was extremely cold and brittle and
the impact of the casings caused it to shatter, resulting in shards of
fractured material engulfing the two men in the front section. The
bombardier got..it full in the face while the navigator had a better chance
of receiving the blast on his side or back where he had same protection.

This would be my first time to fly in combat in this position so I
looked forward to the flight since it was to be, as they would say, a "milk
run”. After all we were just going across the channel to France near a town
called Rouen. We would get real eggs for breakfast and just keep my lunch
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hot because I wiil be back in about four hours from takeoff and the rest of

the day will be mine and I will use it to catch up on some sleep.

When I got to the plane and met the crew I was to fly with I found out
that this was to be their first mission so they were nervous about the
whole affair. I have since found out that the man I was to be with in the
nose was 2nd Lt. Oscar Iezman, he was the bombardier for the crew and would
fly the navigator position that day. He asked me just what I usually did
regarding the flak suit and the parachute. I told him that I wore both just
prior to reaching the coastline of France because I felt that if they were
needed there would not be much time to put them on in an emergency. He
decided to take my advice and do the same. It turned out we were both from
Detroit.

Soon our turn came to take off so we assumed our positions and away we
went, up through the overcast and formed up into our squadron and then into
the group. As soon as we were over the channel, I went to the bamb bay and
set the fuses on the bombs as instructed in briefing, came back to the nose
and test fired the chin turret gquns to be certain they were in working
order. I then put on the flak suit, the chest chute and tied my G.I. issue
shoe laces together and set them aside. We made the coast of France and
proceeded to the target area. The lead plane opened his bomb bay doors so
our pilot did likewise. I set up the intervolumeter unit to salvo (drop all
at the same time)} the bambs and I waited for the lead ship to drop so I
could jettison our load. It was at this time that we came under the nost
intense flak attack I had ever seen. I had been in others but this was the
most accurate. They had our altitude and spead right on the nose. I moved
forward to try and gain same protection from the chin turret and in deoing
so I pulled my head set loose but I did not know it. Just as I got into
position and made certain I could reach the toggle switch to release the
bombs I felt samecne pulling on my leg. It was the lieutenant and he was
pointing to his head set. I looked down saw I was disconnected so I plugged
in only to hear the pilot saying "Bail Cut, Bail Out", over and over again.
I motioned the lieutenant to get ready to leave, secured my shoes to my
harness, released my flak suit as well as the lieutenant's and we started
to leave the plane through the front escape hatch. We never made it as the’
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engineer came down, followed by the co-pilot , and he was followed by the
pilot. The plane was now filling up with smoke so I assumed we had been hit
in an oil line instead of a gas line. Frankly if it had been a gas line we
more than likely would have gone up like a Roman candle. I glanced at the
instruments and saw we were at 18,500 ft. and going down at a steep angle.
We now worked our way to the hatch and as soon as the lieutenant was out I
followed. We were too high to open the chute immediately and we also were
going too fast, so I decided to free fall with the idea of opening the
chute at about 10,000 ft. I think I fell much farther than that and would
estimate I opened about 8,000 ft. I had a good free fall and the chute
opened while I was upside down which meant it opened between my legs and I

took the force on my shoulders instead of my crotch.

I now had time to look around so I tried to spot our plane, It was
below and off to the left, smoke pouring from it and in a steep dive. At
about this time it exploded with a tremendous roar and it must have blown
the bombs from the racks because I noticed subsequent explosions on the
ground. I turned my attention to what was happening below and noticed a lot
of activity but at that height it was hard to make out just what was going
on or who was involved. It was so quiet and peaceful and there is no
sensation of falling whatsoever. This tranquillity did not last for long
because I pecame aware of the fact I was being shot at with some degree of
accuracy. I could hear the bullets whistle by and they had my name on them.
To combat this I decided to swing the chute and present a difficult target
for the Germans. This proved not to be the best thing to do as I swung too
far and slipped the chute causing it to lose air and start to collapse. I
dropped like a rock for about 50 ft. but luckily it filled again. I
continued to swing but not so wildly. They continued to shoot but my Juck
held and I reached the ground in one piece.

I landed in an orchard with my chute draped over one of the trees. I
hit so hard,I was shaking like a leaf and had a hard time getting my hands
around the chute to pull it from the tree, I knew it would be like a beacon
for the Germans and I wanted to try and escape. Since I could not get my
hands to work properly, I wrapped the shroud lines around my arm and ran
with it, pulling the chute fram the tree. Now that I had it, and I might
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add, yards and yards of it, what was I going to do to conceal it? I Looked
around and near a small cliff type rise in the greund I spotted a good size
pile of tree prunings so I bundled up the parachute the best I could and
ran the fifty feet or so, to the pile. I dropped to the ground and worked
my way into the middle of this pile, dragging the chute along. The material
was white and I feit it could be easily seen through the branches of the
pile I was in so I gathered it together and laid on it thus covering most
of it with my outfit which was a dark green color. I was wearing a new type
heated suit and the outer pants and jacket covered my uniform so this must
have blended in well because the Germans dig appear twice that day at the
top of the hill, looking for me,but they never did spot me through the
branches although I could see them perfectly. The odd thing is that
although the Germans did not know where I was, the local French pecople sure
did. I had been hiding for maybe three hours when a man came walking by,
paused by the pile, stooped down looked me in the eye and said "reste la"
which means stay there in French. Now, we had been shot down about 10 aM so
I knew I had a long day ahead and that I must stay right where I was if I
hoped to succeed in getting away frcom the area without getting caught. I
really had no firm plan, I would just have to play it by ear.

The day was indeed long and I was frightened and hungry and wanted to
be just about anywhere but there. Nothing further happened the rest of the
day except trucks kept going up and down the road near me all day, and I
assumed the soldiers were very upset about not being able to locate a man
they absolutely knew had landed in the immediate area. They must have
concentrated their search in another direction or in barns and buildings in
the area and probably gave the local French people a bad time. The next
time I saw anyone it was dark. A man came to my hiding place and told me to
came out and follow him, which I did and we proceeded to his farm house
which was not far away so I thought I must have been in his orchard. We
never discussed this so I never really knew for certain besides I was
having some difficulty with the language even though I had studied French
for two years in college. The man took me inside the house gave me
sanething to eat and offered some clothing. I asked him what would happen
if the Germans caught me and I was out of uniform, he replied by running

his index finger across his throat in that all nation, time honored gesture
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indicating curtains for me. At this point I thought it best for me to go it
alone and see what would happen. I felt that the best thing would be to get
out of the immediate area as quickly as possible and just play it by ear. I
declined his offer of clothes and struck out on my cwn. There I was,
walking in the dark, in a strange land, no certain safe haven, and not
really sure of jJust what to do. I kept walking , going through several
villages and keeping out of sight because I knew there was a curfew and how
could I explain what I was doing or where I was going, let alone the fact
that the minute I opened my mouth it would all be over.

I walked until almost dawn and by then I was so tired I could not go
any further so I started to look for somewhere to hide and if possible get
same sleep. 1 spotted a small house with an attached stable that seemed
deserted so I made my way to it and found I was in luck. I found the door
open the house deserted and not a stick of furniture anyv.;’nere, let alone a
bed. I went into the stable, scraped together some straw on the fiocor and
made myself as comfortable as possible. I was so exhausted I fell asleep at
once and slept right through the early morning until I felt scmeone shaking
my shoulder. I woke up and there stocd a young man with a pitchfork who
wanted to know what I was doing there. I never have been able to figure out
just what made him go into the barn or what he might have been looking for
in the barn. I did not answer his question but instead asked him for
scmething to eat, he also did not reply to this but just turned and left. I
watched him from the stable window as he went up a slight incline to the
neighboring field and started to break up cow pads with the pitchfork.
Every now and then he would stop, look at the house, and then go on with
his work. I felt he was trying to figure out just who I might be and what
he should do about it. After about one half hour of this I began to feel I
had better get out of there since it did not appear as though he would be
any help either with food or any contact that might help with an escape.
The next time he turned his attention to the job at hand, I dove out the
window and ran into the cover of the nearest trees. I then preceeded to
walk through the fields but parallel to the road so I might have same idea
of the direction in which I was going. Finally it occurred to me that I
could not stay in the fields as the fences made it obvious I was where I
should not be, and I did not want any trouble with the farmers, so I cut
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over to the rcad and walked the shoulder trying to be one of the natives.
I did noct see one soul since the man that morning until suddenly I heard
trucks coming so I slid into the ditch aside the road put my back to the
road and waited. The trucks were loaded with German soldiers but they paid
no attention to me. My green outfit must have paid off again. I started to
leave the ditch when I saw a man coming ocut of a farm just down the rcad a
bit, so I slid back down, turned my back again and waited, but this time I
heard sareone lay a bike down and slide down beside me. It was a man and I
assumed it to be the man from the farm. He said nothing but reached into
my Jacket and pulled out my dog tags (army identification tags) at which
point he asked if I had fallen from the sky fram a plane. I answered that I
had, figuring at this point I was in the soup and had nothing to lose. He
got up, motioned for me to do likewise and we proceeded back down the road
to the farm where he put me into the barn telling me to stay there until
he returned. Without further talk, he turned and went out the door. Should
I stay? Should I run? What should I do now? Could I trust him? Had. he gone
for the Germans? Ch God what to do! So as any good sensible soldier, I did
nothing. I stayed there and a good thing I did because this man, whom T
later knew as Jean, was my contact with the French underground. He gave me
food, clothing, and helped me dispose of my green flying suit as well as
my uniform. At this point I had decided that if I was to effect an escape I
was going to have to take same chances. So, we burned all my clothes,
buried the ashes and the wires from the heated suit and struck out Ffor

Paris,

Jean brought along two knapsacks, he carried one and I the other. I
never thought to question him about the contents of the sacks, I just took
it and carried it, as I was instructed. We walked about a mile, finally
arriving at the rail station. It was small with no waiting rocm SO we
wandered around outside for what seemed like hours. We could hear a train
caning and Jean thought it was ours and prepared to get aboard, having
already purchased our tickets. I had no idea of where he was taking me and
was not about to muddy the waters by asking. Suffice to say, I was relieved
just to be with sameone I could trust. The war did not allow for the best
of train schedules so we were not surprised to see that the arriving train

was not ours, but was a heavily loaded freight train with German soldiers
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all over it as well as special flat cars carrying anti-aircraft quns
shielded with sand bags. Thank God the soldiers did not get off the train
and stayed at their posts while the train took on water. Jean and I tried
to look commonplace and not too interested in &ll this, just hoping the
train would move on down the tracks and that ours would come along so we
could be on our way. This proved to be wishful thinking because due to
bombing raids on rail heads as well as strafing by fighters the train had
been delayed and was hopelessly off schedule. In all we waited about four
hours for our train, and when it did get there it was loaded to the hilt
with people, all seats filled and all aisles filled. It was a case of
squeeze in and stand with your back against the wall for support because it
was going to be a long trip. Jean talked to me as well as to other people
nearby but I did not reply although I was surprised at just how much I
understood . He got hungry, opened his knapsack, extracted two eggs, giving
one to me. I thought, how nice, hard boiled eggs, certainly better than
nothing. Jean motioned for me to watch closely, took out his pocket knife,
knocked a hole in the end of the egg and sucked on the shell. Oh my gawd,
raw eggs, I had never eaten one, never intended to eat one and now here I
was hungry as the devil and knew I had to eat the thing because I was so
hungry I could have eaten the thing shell and all. I poked out the end, as
Jean had and with great difficulty got the darn thing down, and to my
surprise it stayed down. We followed this with a little cheese and bread,
making for a sufficient meal in a pinch. Everyone on the train was having a
good time and soon Jean started them singing and they sang and passed the
wine around. Aside for two stops due to rail damage we made the trip
without incident and finally arrived at our destination which turned out to
be Paris. But it was late-—-and there was a curfew. What happens now?

We got off the train, walked a short distance, and Jean motioned to a
blond woman in. her forties standing with a bicycle. wWe approached her and
the two embraced briefly. Jean introduced me to the girl, quickly
explaining who I was and how he got me. He put the knapsacks into the
basket on her bike and we started off, she pushing the bike as we strolled
along. It was dark, about ten o'clock, and we were in violation of the
curfew. We had gone several blocks when we ran into two gendarmes and of

course they stopped us. I was walking several paces behind Jean and the
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woman so I stopped when they did, thinking I might be able to run if
trouble developed. The police asked for their identity cards and they
produced them, so 1 reached into my pocket as though I had one too. They
checked the cards and handed them back then looked at me. At this point the
woman said,"he's alright he's with us", the policemen looked at me
causally, handed them their cards back and gestured for us to continue. I
may have looked casual but I was wet clean down to my belt buckle with
nervous sweat. After walking for another ten minutes we came to a schocl on
a short dead end street and turned up the street entering the building. I
was now , as I later discovered, at my hiding place and with another branch
of the French underground. The woman's husband was there waiting for Jean
and he took the knapsacks, opened them, and I could see they held butter. I
not only was evading capture, I was engaged in smuggling items that were
rationed and illegal to have. Why didn't the gendarmes check those
packages? They must have known they contained contraband and chose to look
the other way, I could not believe my luck was holding out as well as it
was. I now learned that the woman's name was Paulette, the man's name was
Marcel, that their last name was Guyon and that Marcel was a gendarme and
they had a small son about five years old. I have often suspected that the
police that stopped us might have known Paulette and that she was a
policeman's wife, it would explain many things, but I never found out if

such were the case.

Now I was in Paris, in contact with the underground and arrangements
were to be made to get me out. How, when, where, still remained to be seern.
The next day a man showed up, asked for one of my dog-tags, questioned me
about where and when I had been shot down, and left. I asked Paulette what
it was all about and she said they must be certain I was indeed an American
airmen because. the Germans were clever and there was much at stake for many
people. I asked her what would happen if the information came back
negative? She said that then I would have to be eliminated and that I would
be watched closely until approval came frem England. A1}l I could think of
was, "please God, don't let them foul up this time".

The next day the man was back with the approval and said he would
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begin to make arrangements for my transportation to get me back to England.
Things were still going my way, I could scarcely believe it. I spent the
next several days with their son whom they called Te-Te, which I assumed
to be a nickname, and Paulette but not leaving the quarters the school
provided them. Food was scarce and rationed, very little meat and this only
on occasion, this was supplemented with some pasta and not a whole lot of
that either. Tobacco was also in short supply and provided only once a
month, two small bags, one rough cut, the other stringy and good for
rolling cigarettes. We all smoked and they shared everything with me, My
job was to run the rolling machine and transfer all the material into
Cigarettes. We mixed the two types of tobacco together, they instructed me
in the operation of the machine and I set to work. I was told that when I
finished smoking a cigarette I was to strip the paper and return the
tobacco remaining to a jar that was used for this purpose. We then would
re-roll this tobacco into another batch and proceed with the same system.
Iet me tell you, the last cigarettes we rolled could send you to the moon,
they were that strong.

One day Marcel came home with a rabbit and Paulette was ecstatic to
have this added food for the larder. She tied it's feet together, hung it
from the kitchen cabinet door and proceeded to skin it. She then cleaned it
and cut it up, and cooked it for dinner. The three of us sat down and with
great pride Paulette put the head on my plate. I took one look at the thing
and immediately declined, where-upon a big argument broke out as to just
who was going to get this thing. I mean they were not fighting to not eat
it, they were fighting to get it. Paulette won, took possession and
proceeded to eat the eyes first, then the brain, followed by finishing off
the little meat there was on it. The other two looked on in envy, but not
me, I was well rid of the problem. However, I did thank them for their
consideration- as best I could in my poor French. The following week Marcel
decided that he and his son and T would GO into the near countryside. We
walked so it could not have been too far and also we could see the Eiffel
Tower from the hill we were standing on. We turned over rocks and found
quite a few snails. I could not imagine what anyone would do with a snail

but I joined in the hunt and before long we had enough to satisfy Marcel.
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When we got back home they were turned over to Paulette and she proceeded
to extract them from their shell with a hat pin. 7Then she washed the
shells, pulled the pad from the snail body, re-inserted the body into the
shell, adding some butter, parsiey and salt. She then placed them on a
metal tray, open side up, and baked them in the oven. I had never seen
anything quite like this and sat there spellbound. These were incorporated
into the dinner that night, served hot. I tried one but then left the

remaining ones for my hosts. They loved them, even little Te-Te.

One night we had a visit from a member of our resistance cell and he
was quite upset. The Germans hac penetrated our unit by surrounding a whole
block and questioning everyone. It seems that in this sweep, they picked up
an airman that was hiding with another family. They tortured one of the
French underground people and although he died, he talked first. Each cell
had only one person that knew another person from ancther cell. Each cell
had scme special work to do. Qurs was the printing of identity cards to aid
people who were without them. This could be Jews, escaped priscners,
evadees like myself, or Ffrenchmen who needed to change their identity
because of trouble with the Germans. Everyday for the next week we watched
to be sure we were not going to be taken by the gestapo. An escape route
was planned by going out an upper window, across the roof tops and down to
street level and to another house. We practiced until we knew it by heart.
They hated to lose the school because the shop for teaching trades provided
them with the equipment they needed for printing as well as the lathes for
making the fake seals to validate the identity cards. It was at this time
they decided to outfit me with a set of papers. I carried six photograrhs
of myself in the escape kit and used one, full face, for my papers. I would
be known as Jean Pierre Martin, I would be a lathe operator, and my health
card would show I was ill and unable to do hard labor. In the meantime,
Marcel would have to locate another cell as we were campletely cut off fram
our former organization, They did not know what to do with me or what to do
with our cell. At this point I wondered if I was ever going to get out of
France and back to my unit in England. Marcel decided he must take a chance
and try and feel out a contact. Dangerous work this was to be, but he would
do it. He was a man of great courage.

One night at dinner, Marcel and Paulette got into a lengthy discussion which
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turned out to be about me. They got to thinking it must be about time for

me to need a woman and told me they would lock into the matter. I told them
not to concern themselves with the problem that, they had enough to think
about with everything else. But, being true Frenchmen and Frenchwoman they
went to work and found a solution. A few days later Marcel told me to be
prepared to leave with him in the morning. The next morning I was ready as
instructed and wondered if I was to be moved to safer quarters due to our
problem. We walked about a mile to an apartment house and several flights
up. He knocked on the door, it opened and there stood a rather stout woman,
no--a very stout woman. Marcel introduced me, pushed me in,, saying he
would return for me that evening after work. The woman said her name was
Louise, her husband had been taken to Germany for forced labor and she was
ready to provide for my needs. Now picture this situation. T am 22 years
old, weigh a massive 130 lbs. and Louise was about 40 years old and went at
about 230 1lbs. As if I'm not in enough trouble already. She chased me from
one roam to the other in her desire to be accommodating until out of -breath
she finally gasped--"Well, what do you want to do?" and in my best French I
proudly stated "faire le cafe". This really fractured her and she and T
both laughed as she set about actually making coffee. Louise was a great
gal and to the extent of our ability to converse we spent the day listening
to each other's story. I often wonder if her husband lived to come back to
her. I also often wished I had asked her how big a guy he was.

Marcel returned that afterncon about 4 PM after work and believe me
Louise had a tale to tell him. He just looked at me like I was crazy and
that night at dinner he told Paulette and she was dismayed. Both looked at
me and I shrugged my shoulders and said "ma femme", or in english, "my
wife". Neither one of them understood this so they just shrugged their
shoulders and let it go.

On another occasion, Marcel decided I had been inside too long and
needed a little outing, so off we went, he seemed relaxed sbut I was really
nervous. We go to a small bar to have a drink and Marcel orders for both of
us so I would not be giving myself away the minute I opened my mouth, We
stood at the small bar with the drinks and watched the natives. No one
spoke to Marcel so I gathered that he was not a regular customer. Every
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thing was going fine until a German soldier came in and stood right next to
me, orders a drink in beautiful French, then turns to me and asks for a
light for his cigarette. ie had a big smile on his face and waited for me
to give him a light. New, I had a lighter with me, it was my own and very
British and he would have seen instantly that it was different from any he
would be used to seeing. I smiled back at him, said nothing, looked at
Marcel as though I was going to die. Marcel had a grin a mile wide, leaned
past me and lit his cigarette. The soldier thanked him, gave me another big
grin and lost himself in his own thoughts and drink. We finished our drink
and left as though nothing was wrong. I was wringing wet with sweat and had
a genuine case of the shakes. Marcel turned to me after we were outside and
said"le Bosch est stupide" ( the Germans are stupid) but at the moment I
was not sure just who was the most stupid. I needed to bé anywhere but
there. Marcel was so pleased with himseif that we next went to a restaurant
where we met a group of his friends and he had a great time telling them
apout our adventure. Everyone had a great laugh and insisted on buying us a
cognac to celebrate the occasion, I took mine, sipped it, and my halr stood
up, it was so strong. I noticed the women were dipping a sugar cube into
theirs and sucking the cognac from that, so I tried it and it worked fine
although I took a little kidding from the men.

Marcel came home one night and he was excited. He had made contact
with another unit and the odd thing about it was the contact was through
his immediate superior. Both were involved in the underground and neither
one was aware of it until Marcel's probing made him suspect that he needed
help. He later told Marcel he was very nervous in replying because he did
not want to expose himself and his contacts to any danger.

Qur cell was again operational and they needed our ability to provide
identity cards. MAgain my luck was with me because we could now make
arrangements to get me out of Paris and into southern France so I could try
and make it over the Pyranees mountains and into Spain. They told me this
was the route used most of the time. The necessary contacts were made and
all we had to do was wait for a group to be formed. When the time came we
would be notified. The unit in charge of moving us from one place to

another had to find what they refered to as a convoyer or person that could
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convey us from one point to ancther. This was risky work as they had to be
with the people being transported but could not be caught with them if

something went wrong. There was nothing to do now but wait, and hope, and

pray.

About ten days passed with no word on the progress being made. Then we
received word that I would be leaving the next morning and to be preglnared
to follow instructions to the letter. That night the Guyon family and I
made our goodby. I thanked them for all they had done for me to which they
responded that it was nothing. Imagine that, they risked their lives,
shared their meager food supply, searched out help when their cell was
isolated and regarded it as nothing. I asked if there was anything they
wanted frocm me and Paulette said she would like to have a ring I had that
was a Cameo and bhad been in my family for about 80 years or so. I
immediately gave it to her and was pleased to do so. We all hugged, kissed
and Paulette cried a little. She then gave me two small religious mementos
to take with me as a remembrance and wished me Godspeed and to please write
after the war. Now, I could not carry their address with me for fear of
being captured and the Germans finding it on me, so I left mine with them
so they could hide it until after the war. They could write me and I could
reply.

The next morning Marcel and I left early and walked for about three
miles in town to a church. We entered and found a man standing and about
thirteen people sitting in the pews. Marcel spoke to the man, came back to
me and said in French "I leave you now, have a good journey", gave me a
hand clasp and departed. I sat with the others and the man began to speak
to us in french first then in english. He explained the procedure to be
used for the journey south. We were to travel in pairs from the church,
always keeping the pair ahead of us in sight but we were not to stay too
close as to make it noticeable we were together. We, above all, must never
appear ‘as a group. The "Conveyors" were to be a young man and a young woman
traveling as man and wife. They would arrive shortly, be introduced so we
might recognize them, and then we would be on our way. They did arrive and
then left the church together. We waited several minutes and then the first
pair of us left, repeating this procedure until all were gone . Each pair
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keeping the pair ahead in view and the first pair following the guides. We
had been given the train tickets prior to leaving and were instructed to
surrender them only to the conductor on the train. We proceeded a short
distance to the station and the train being there we,proceeded to board. To
say it was crowded would be the understatement of the year. It was jammed
to the gills, as they say, with absolutely no place to sit and hardly a
place to stand. Now, I had been paired with a young Arerican flier about
nineteen years old who had been seriously injured when he was shot down.
His one arm was almost useless and he did not understand a word of French.
We found a place to stand in the corridor not far from the bathroom and
stocd quietly casting an occasional glance down the line to keep the pair
ahead of us in view. If they moved then we must do likewise., The train was
so jammed that people were even in the bathroom, one sitting and two
standing with the door open. We were all mixed together, men and women, not
many talking Jjust keeping to our own thoughts. I could not talk to my
partner, whose name I neglected to mention was John Katsaros, because if we

spoke we would give ourselves away, and who could be trusted?

Cur group consisted of men from nineteen to seventy five years of age,
so we looked rather commonplace and this could only help. I later learned
that half were Jewish and the rest of us were officers and enlisted men
and French, English, BAmerican and, I believe, a Canadian. We had a real

mixture.

The train finally started and we were on our way, packed like sardines
lacking only the oil. After about two hours a man came struggling down the
aisle, squeezing by person after person . Believe me there was a lot of
complaining but he just said he had to get to the rest room. He finally
gets there and finds three people in it, and he had a fit. He carried on so
much that the. three in there decided they had to come out so he might get
in. Now, let me tell you, there wasn't hardly roam for one extra person in
the aisle let alone four. One was behind the door so the two had to come
out so he could close the door, get around it and out of the rocm. They
shuffled about and the desperate man finally got in and had his day. You
will not believe this but that gquy, and only that guy, came back three
times on that first leg of the journey to use the room. Finally on his last
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trip scmeone spoke up asking what his problem was and ancther voice from
scmewhere said in a loud voice that he must have taken a suppository. As
grim as things were , believe me , this brought down the house. The
corridor was not disturbed again. It was a long ride until we reached a few
stations that relieved the crowding, as more got off than got on. John and
I were by now standing near a compartment and at a stop a seat became
available. We only had to watch for the two ahead of us when the train
stopped so I sat down and figured I could relieve John shortly. Soon a
woman got up and left (it turned out she was going to the rest room) so
John came into the compartment and sat down, happy to have a seat. lo and
behold she reappears marches up to John and says, in French,"Sir you have
taken my place." He gives her a big grin and sits there. I knew the woman
was not going to give up so easy and John had no Idea what she wanted, so I
got up and gave her my seat and that made her happy. So we proceeded south
on the train not certain just what to expect, or just exactly where we were
going. We knew we had to cross the mountains but we had no idea how far
south we could ride or even just how we would get into Spain. The people
helping us escape could not risk the entire operation by some of us getting
caught and being forced to reveal how the operation was run. We were all
aware how the Nazis could obtain any information they desired, it was
simply a matter of would you die before you talked, and they were experts
at their job.

The route we were taking, seemed to be in good repair, indicating that
the Allles were not concentrating on this rail system, because we did not
stop once for repairs to the rails. We made quite good time and now that we
could sit down the journey was endurable. The only thing was, we had
nothing to eat and we had left very early that morning. But, all in all, an
empty stomach is worth freedom anytime. Very late that day, we went through
a town called Montauban, it was a good sized town, and after a short stop,
we continued on south for about another 25 miles to Toulouse. This was a
much larger town and proved to be the end of the journey. The two people
ahead of us got off the train and John and I followed. We were inside a
huge station with about four tracks across for servicing various routes to
and from the area. As we had been instructed, we stayed together in twos
but this time we could see our Convoyers. We all stood near the shops and
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along the wall of the station, keeping our eyes on the man and woman. They
had taken up a positicn adjacent to the nearest tracks, upended their
suitcases and sat on them. We had been advised, in our briefing, that
someone would walk up to them, engage them in conversation and that they
then would give wus the all clear signal and then they would simply leave
the station while we waited for the next act. ¥We stood and they sat for
nour after hour but nothing happened. We, John and I, felt in our bones
that we were in deep trouble. This feeling got worse when the man and woman
got up and simply left with no signal to us. There were German soldiers all
over the place, some on leave, I presume, as well as Gestapo men because
they were everywhere all the time and watched everything. Again, we could
not talk because of the fear of being overheard, so we communicated by eye
contact and head nods. We moved inside a small coffee shop for awhile to
change our positions so as not to be quite so obvious.. We could not stay
there for long because no one could contact us under those circumstances,
so we moved back into the station proper. John was great, even though he
was hurting, he never ‘let on anything was wrong through the whole trip.
Mind you, both of us were scared to death by the uncertainty of the

situation.

The two of us stood there, watching and weiting, and finally a man
came by, looked me right in the eye, and said in English” Follow the man
with the pipe". He said this quickly and moved on. John and I looked at one
another with a question in our eyes. Was this a contact that could be
trusted? Was this the Gestapc trying us on for size? Should we move out or
stay put? Now, none of the other people had made a move nor had anyone
contacted them and we could not figure out why we had been spoken to but
they were ignored. All of us around the station were keeping an eye on the
others. We had to, we were all in this together, and what happened to one
happened to all. We decided that moving and following the strange order the
man had given us was much too risky so we waited some more. After about one
half hour, the same man came by and again looked me in the eye and said the
same thing but this time he was mad as hell and said it through clenched
teeth as well as slightly louder. I looked at John, shrugged my shoulders
and nodded my head in the direction of the exit tunnel., We had to do

something so let’s go for broke. But believe me, I was scared to death.
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We strolled toward the tunnel trying to be nonchalant so as not to
attract attention. A glance over my shoulder told me that the others were
now moving also. Was I condemning all of us to capture once we left the
station? As we arrived at the tunnel, there stood a man of average height ,
smoking the largest pipe I have ever seen. He was leaning against the wall
with a casual air, but as we approached, he turned and walked ahead of us,
through the tunnel and outside. We followed for about two blocks when he
hen stopped and allowed us to catch up to him. We stood there and he
finally said, in English," Are you people the shipment from Paris?" We told
him that we were and asked him what about the other people with us. He said
that they were being taken by twos by other men, and would be safe and that
we would be tocgether tomorrow if all went well. We asked why we had been
left there so long and he said that his people knew a shipment was coming
through that week but the men that handled that had been captured the week
before and were either dead or in prison. He said that they had been going
to the station every day to meet the train from Paris but had no way to
tell who was who or what was what. Today, he said, they had gone again and
without much luck. They had seen the couple sitting at the tracks but it
meant nothing to them so they were about to give up when one of their men
indicated he wanted a meeting. They left the station and had a conference.
The man said he had spotted a young man with American army shoes that had
been dyed black and he felt it worth the risk to try and make contact. In
fact he was sO sure he was right he insisted they try. They were my shoes
that I had bailed out with and had been wearing right along. We airmen had
been advised in lectures regarding escape and evasion that shoes were the
hardest item to get in Europe and that it would be wise to take ours with
us and do as I had done. So, a pair of shoes, it turns out, moved us to the
next part of our escape. .

The manhéith the pipe took us to his house, ( I never knew nor asked
his name) fed us, let us clean up and stay the night. He told us we would
be leaving the next afternocon if things could be arranged. They were
working on rebuilding the local organization to replace the operation lost
by the capture of the other men. It was not so simple because they had to

arrange comnnections all the way back to Paris and be sure those connections
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were safe. It felt good to have a decent meal under our belts as well as a
place to sleep after the long train ride and the episcde at the station.
By checking a map now I can see where we had traveled scme 350 miles, as
the crow flies, and by land more than that. I can see now why we had left
so early in the morning. Chances are the trip we took might only go once a
day or because of the war perhaps once a week. The impression that remains
with me to this day about this house we were taken to is that it was a
multipie dwelling with I think four floors. The building was very old
looking, from the outside, but when we entered the apartment itself, it was
very modern and furnished well. There was no woman to be seen, the man did
everything for us and did it as though he knew what he was doing. I often
wondered if he was alone because he was single, or if he had sent hig wife
away because of the nature of his business. John and I were so exhausted
and so hungry that the many things I think about now never occurred to
either of us. We seemed to live from minute to minute and at the hands of
other people. The best way to describe the feeling is to say, it was all
like a dream or nightmare. We bathed and shaved and fell into bed to Sleep
the sleep of the dead. I thought I would never be that tired ever &gain,
anytime in my life. Little did I know!
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The next day we woke up very late, having been allowed to get all the
rest we seemed to require. The man fixed us breakfast, even though it was
afterncon, and when we had finished, he anncunced he was going cut and see
just what plans had been made. He told us they had a man to quide us over
the Pyranees Mountains into Spain and that everything had to he
coordinated. We were left alone for several hours as he went about his
business. Our only fear was that someone might come to the door looking for
him because we sure did not know what to do. Mot answer the door was what
we probably decided but at this point I can't recall. He returned and
advised us that everything was in order and we were to leave right away. He
had train tickets, which he gave us, and then led us back to the station to
join the others. Our instructions now were to pay no attention to our
former campanions but just ride the train to the end of the line and get
off. We were to be met there by sameone and told what to do. Off we went,
onto the train, found a seat and waited. Scon the train started to move and
once we were under way the conductor came through and collected the
tickets. We either looked like natives or he Jjust did not care but either
way we attracted no attention and went on our way. There were not many
pecple on this train and we were not sure if this was the best condition.
Either way it made no difference because there was nothing we could do
about it. We were not going as fast as the other train, and stopped at
every little burg along the way. It was obvious this was a local line
servicing all the little places in the south. Eventually we reached the end
of the line and got off, standing alongside the train by the tracks. fThe
station was not much to speak of and we could see no life. A few people got
off with us but they went their way without a backward glance. Here we were
again, not knowing what to expect, when along comes a man walking quickly
to the bunch of us. He never stops but moticns us all to follow and goes by
taking the lead he walks toward the front of the train and from there he
branches off into the countryside. It was slightly hilly but not too bad so
we had no trouble keeping up. After about twenty minutes he stopped in a
smzll clearing in the woods and had us gather around. He then told us we

had made it unscathed so far and also undetected by the Germans. We were,
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he said, to remain there until someone came for us. Under no circumstances
were we to move or to do anything that might bring attention to ourselves
such as lighting a fire or making any loud noise. He could not say exactly
when our help would arrive, only repeating we must stay there. The man we
had stayed with had given John and I scme sandwiches so at least we had
scmething to eat. Our fellow travelers also had been provided with
something, not much, but scmething. Don't forget, food was short for the
people and anything they gave was less for themselves. So, not knowing how
long we were to wait we settled down on the grass in small knots of people,
those knowing one another together , the rest of us in random fashion. I am
certain we all felt our savior would be along before nightfall and we would
start the next phase of the escape. The sun went down, dusk came, the moon
came out, and night was upon us in full force. I tried to sleep on the
ground but, the dampness permeated my clothes and I was most uncomfortable,
as were all the others. There was much whispering, such as, "Is he coming?
Did he get caught? Have we been set up? Should we strike out on our own? We
had only questions, no answers. This, I think, was the longest night of my
entire life. By morning I was so cold I thought I was going to freeze to
death, it was June and we were in the foothills of the mountains. I
remember standing at he top of a small rise waiting for the sun to coame up.
A young Frenchman was standing alongside me also waiting for the warmth of
the sun. He spoke very good English and told me he was in the underground
and had made this trip before. He claimed he had information he wanted to
get to England so the trip was necessary. I was famished and so was he. He
asked if I had any food and I said no that what little I had had gone last
night. He opened a knapsack and extracted a can of concentrated Pet Milk,
poked a couple of holes in the end, tilted his head back, and poured scme
into his mouth. He offered me a swig and I gratefully accepted, getting it
the same as he had. I had never tasted this canned milk before, but I can
tell you, it was so high in sugar content, it was like a shot in the arm. I
thanked him:”returned the can, and he stowed it back in his pack carefully
so it would not spill. We both socaked up the warmth of the sun as it got
higher and eventually warmed up and dried off. I had no idea what the
others did to keep going, all I knew was, at last daylight had come and now
our man would be there any minute to care for us. Life was looking good

again.
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Time, as such, is relative as I am sure we all know. Sometimes a
minute can seem like an hour, another time the same minute goes so quickly
it seems never to have existed at all. Even days can follow this pattern
of fast or slow flow. We all know the old saying, "the watched pot never
boils", and it is so true to those involved in the time span in question.
All we had to do was have patience and our troubles would be resolved in
short order. Spirits were up, life was good, the next part of the adventure
would certainly be less ccmplicated than what had gone on before. The day
wore on slowly and the sun got higher until we were at noon. Still no orne
approached us in our spot in the woods. We were not that far from the
little town, so why didn't someone come for us? Oh well, maybé another hour
and we would be on our way because we certainly couldn’t just sit here all
day and risk getting caught. Someone said that perhaps the Germans had also
broken the contact we were waiting for and we would be here forever. We
discussed this possibility, agreeing that there might have been a problem,
and that if scmeone did not show up by nightfall, we would strike out on
our own, using our escape maps and head for the Spanish border. Having
arrived at this decision we all tried to settle down and make the best of
the situation. The afternoon dragged along, each minute like an hour, each
hour like a lifetime. Mix this with a dose of scared, and you know how we
feit. Hungry? oh yes, but there wasn't anything to eat so we just endured,
but not like herces, no sir, we complained to whomever would listen. It
sure didn't do any good, but we felt better just getting it off our chests.
Had we known that it would be three more days before we had anything to
eat, I am sure we would have given up on the spot. Finally, everyone got
tired of complaining so we just sat and passed the time. We could not speak .
with the Jewish people very well, so they kept to themselves, talking among
themselves. We did find out, through the French fellow, that the old man
with this group was seventy five vyears old, and we assumed that the
underground was charging them all a lot of money to get them out. Right
here, before I forget, I want to mention that this old man made the entire
trip under his own power and I never once heard him camplain. What
happened to them all once we got to Spain, I have no idea, but I hope they
lived to tell of their ordeal.

- 23 -



This is how the afternocon passed, just waiting, until at last the sun
started to go down. We were quickly reaching our hour of decision as to
whether to wait some more or proceed on our own. All through the day, as
odd as it might seem, we had been quite quiet, always speaking softly so as
not to attract any attention should scmeone pass near. At last we heard
some footsteps on the trail leading to our lair and our pulses quickened as
we watched to see who it might be. It was our man, finally he had arrived.
He explained to the french fellow that he never had any intenticn of coming
to us in dayiight and that we should have been told. Who cares, he's here,
we are going at long last. Did he have any food for us?, someone asked. he
merely sald that he did not, even though he had a knapsack on his back. He
carried his own food and we must shift for ourselves as he did not have
enough for everyone. I have since thought that this man must have been a
Basque since he obviously was a mountain man and knew his way around the
Pyranees Mountains. He wasted no time, getting us all on our feet and under
way. By now it was quite dark and the guide led us down to the valley and
along a road that led deeper into the mountains. We were told to form a
single line, keep the person ahead in sight, and above all, not to talk.
The guide set a rather fast pace and it quickly became obviocus that the
civilians could not keep up the pace as they were carrying suitcases. The
guide stopped and instructed us younger people to carry the luggage. We did
this and started off again. Although we were younger, it was not an easy
task to carry this stuff, so , when we came to a small bridge scme time
later we all threw their things in the river. I have always wondered what
was in those suitcases. Money? Jewels, or just clothes?. Later on when they
found out what we had done, they could have killed us, they were so mad.
But as it turned out, we would have lost them anyway, or at leaét had to
abandon them pecause of events that followed.

We were really making good time down the valley and things seemed to
be at their best, until all at once a huge search light came on down the
road, and a car started up, pulling out of a side rcad onto our road, and

headed towards us. There was a short road to our right leading to the foot
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of a hill, it was about one quarter mile long, dead ending at the hill.
with a field on both sides of the road. The guide ran back down the line of
people, headed up this short road and ducked into the tall growth and threw
himself on the ground. Needless to say, we all did likewise, lying as still

as dead men. The car turned up this road and stopped almost opposite us

They never 'left the car, just sat there with the motor running for maybe
three or four minutes. Finally they backed down the road, never having
flashed a light into the fields, and went back to where they had started
from. We laid there for about five more minutes to be sure everything was
safe, then followed the guide as he abandoned the road and the valley and
started to climb the hill at the road's end. It was tough work since the
hill was about a 45 degree incline and grassy so the shoes slipped as we
worked our way up. We would climb a little and rest a little and after a
few hours of this we were all exhausted so that every time we rested we
would fall asleep for a few minutes. We would be so hot from the work of
climbing but after a few minutes of sleep we would wake up shivering from
the damp and cold. It was miserable. Our easy journey through the valleys
was all over. From now on, it would be, climb up and slide down, and climb
up again. We were among the trees, so that helped some as it gave us
sanething to grab on to if one was in our path. We asked the Frenchman why
the people in the car didn't come into the field after us and he said the
guide told him he was surprised also but felt that they may have been
afraid that the people in the field were the French underground and heavily
armed and were afraid they might get hurt. Little did they know how close
they were to collecting a group of unarmed, frightened pecple.

We continued in this fashion all through the night. Poor John
Katsaros, my partner from Paris, was having a terrible time trying to climb
with only one arm, the other, as I said before, was badly shot up and of no
use to him: I broke a branch fram a small tree and used this to help pull
him up. Of course, the only time we had to do this was when it was very
steep. He never camplained but I knew it was very painful for him to twist
and turn in attempting to climb the hills. As daylight approached, the
guide located a barn and we spent the day there sleeping in the straw. At
nightfall he roused us and we went at the mountain again. Everyone was so

hungry but there was no foocd. We were able to get water from the many
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streams we crossed, but after taking a drink and climbing awhile one got
thirsty quickly and we had no way to carry water with us. How do you keep
going like this? I don't know but go we did. If it was tough on us, imagine
the older people, imagine the old man, how did he do it? I don't know, but
by God he did. The will to live is powerful. As I look back on this, I am
amazed at the lack of conversation that went on during this btrip. It must
have been because it took all our strength Jjust to keep going. But I'll
tell you one thing, our guide never once faltered and walked as easily at
the end of the day as he did in the morning. We later felt that he must
have made this trip many times and that as a matter of fact, he probably
was a smuggler in peacetime and had made his living carrying contraband
over the borders. This was conjecture but quite believable and it at least
seemed like a good guess.

I could belabor the journey , but suffice to say, it took four days
and four nights to get over into Spain. One day was quite like the
preceding, a lot of hard climbing by day and luckily sleeping in barns at
night. It might help to mention here that although there were barns to be
found, there were no farm houses. It seews that the  natives, in the
summer, take their live stock up into the mountains for grazing but do not
stay there with them all the time. The barns are not large and are used to
store hay, straw, feed and other incidentals they do not want left out in
the weather. So there was no one to bother us and moreover it was early in
the season so nothing had been brought up as yet. Our next worry would be
when we approached the border we might be seen by German guards with dogs
because they were on continual patrol looking for anything amiss.

The third day out we had a catastrophe in that when we got up in the
morniing in the barn we had siept in, we thought we had roused everyone
from the straw before we set out on that days climb., Around ncon, as we
rested, we discovered we had left one of our men behind. There was nothing
we could do for him at this point, only agreeing that in the future to make
a good head count before leaving for the day. We could only hope the poor
fellow could find his own way into Spain. Rested,we continued ¢limbing and
that day we climbed above the tree line as well as the usual mountain
streams we used for drinking. By the end of the day we were all parched
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with thirst. We continued up until finally the guide called us together and
pointed out scme huge rock piles manded together with chicken wire. When
you stocd by one and looked off into the distance, you could just make out
another one. These were the markers for the boundary between France and
Spain. He indicated that we must be very careful of planes flying the
vorder as well as soldiers on foot patrolling . The planes, if they spotted
us, could notify the soldiers by radio of our position. He also indicated
that they would care into Spain after us if we were seen. He waved us to Jo
on and turned and walked away from us and down the mountain to our right.
He obviously was finished with his job and now we wWere on our own. It was
late enough 1in the season, SO there was no snow for us to deal with, but
rhere was a large depression in the ground , maybe fifty feet around, and
it was full of water. We made a bee line for this and dropped to the ground
and drapk the stuff. We didn't even stop to think whether it might be
poisoned or at the very least , dirty. 1 guess it was good water since no
one got sick. We gathered ourselves together and proceeded to climo past
the rock markers so as to be in Spain as quickly as possible. We continued
up for several hours, made the top and proceeded down into Spain. We had
made it. We kept walking down the steep hills but couldn't see any sign of
life. We walked until it started to get dark and as luck was with us, we
found another barn, the first we had seen that day. We spent the night
rhere as we had in the others. when morning came we would have to devise a

plan of action since we were now without a guide.

The barn provided the shelter we needed fram the chill and the dew of
the mountain. Sleep was no problem, because we were worn out from the day's
activities. When you think about it, it is.odd that peing in the situation
we were in, one might wonder how anyone could sleep. There is no doubt we
were all frightened, unsure 'of what was going to happen next, yet our
bodies need .for rest apparently superseded our mind's need to worry. The
night passed without event, soO everyone g5t a good night's rest. we did
discuss the man we had lost, wondering where he might be, and if he might
catch up with us. Our hearts and minds were with him and we all wished him
luck. I, myself, thanked God that it wasn't me who was wandering out there
scmewhere lost and alone. Frankly, I had enough problems as it was., I sure
didn't need another batch of them to carry.
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Now it was daylight and decisions had to be made. We had no set leader
to make decisions, s0 it became a general discussion meeting and those of
us that could@ communicate did so. There were not a whole lot of options for
us to consider but we knew we must press on until we found some help in
Spain. Here we were in another country and we had entered it illegally by
crossing the border where there were no border guards. It was a moot
question because we doubted the guards would have admitted us  if we did
confront them. It became obvious there was only one real course of action
to take , and this was to strike out in small groups, going down the
mountain and let nature take it's course. So off we went sliding and
walking when it was possible, the grade was very steep, until we came to a
road. No sooner had we reached the road than the local police were upon us.
There were no pleasant greetings or smiles, just some orders we could not
understand. The language was not to be understocd, but the gestures
certainly were not in doubt. They all had pistols at their waists and I am
sure if we had given them any trouble, they would have used them. They kept
us there as other policemen rounded up the others as they appeared at the
side of the road at various points. We were all more or less in the same
area so they had us all in short order. No cne tried to escape, rather we
were happy to be found because we felt that now the authorities had us and
the proper steps would be taken to get us on our way to England.

WRONG! They marched us all to a gocd sized barn along the side of the
road, lined us up and one by one had us turn out our pockets, taking
everything we had of value. As each one was relieved of their valuables
they were ordered into the barn. They took all watches, wallets, maps,
coins and rings, if a person had one. Soon everyone was inside, the doors
closed, secured, and a guard posted outside. There we were safely, we
hoped, in the hands of our saviors. Why they took everything we could not
understand but after a little discussion we decided the police were going
to keep this stuff for themselves. Why not? there was nothing we could do

one way or the other. Again, it would have to be a wait and see game.

I think we must have been in the barn for same two or three hours,

just sitting on the floor, letting our minds process the possibilities of
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the next chapter in the unfolding dramas. Suddenly the door was flung open,
an officer strode in, followed by two policeman. One man had a small table
and a chair, the other a box. The table was positioned in the light of the
door, the box was placed on the table, and the officer sat down. The
policemen locked a little unhappy. the officer looked mad. He spoke some
english, telling us to came up one at a time and reclaim ocur property. He
did not apologize, but sat by the box as each person found their stuff.
Mow, although I have not mentioned it, we were all starving to death, and
by the time everyone's goods were reclaimed, it was noon or a little after.
Remember now, it had bkeen four days and four nights since we had eaten. %We
had been expending energy like a ditch digger, and had about reached the
end of our rope. How the old man suffered all this and kept going, 1'll

never know.

Once everything had been returned, the officer motioned for all of us
to follow him. We went out the door, across the road, up a flight of steps
and intc a hotel like building. A long room was already set up with a table
and the mumber of settings to accomwodate all of us. We had been expected!
Quickly sitting down, we waited for some food. Before eating, they came,
poured some clear liguid into a glass for each of us, and then filled the
glass with water. The liguid turned cloudy and it tasted like licorice. We
drank it but it really knocked us for a lcop. We were in no shape for
drinking. Finally we got same food, just what I can not recall, and when we
finished we were shown to same rooms with nice clean bedclothes. That ended
that day for the whole group. A real bed, clean sheets, a full stomach and
, at least it seemed, nothing more to worry about. We were on our way home.

The next morning we were able to clean up and it felt good to be
washed even though there was nothing we could do about our clothes. They
were dirty and had to stay that way. We were not about to ask for a washing
machine or give anyone any trouble. We were fed and then taken down the
road a mile or two. It seems to me we walked because I don't recall riding

in or on any type of conveyance.

I recently checked with my companion, John Katsaros, and he recalled
that the townm they tock us to was Les. We had been apprehended down the
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road from this town, held in that immediate area, and transferred to les.
When we arrived there we were given a room in an inn and there were two of
us to each room. We were then called together and a man that spoke English
advised us that we were free to move about the small town during the day.
We were not to leave the town proper, and were to be in the inn at
nightfall. At this point, an officer that was with us , reguested
permission to try and contact the American Embassy in Barcelona. The man
was not very friendly , but he also was not cruel. He gave his permission,
told us how we could contact him if we needed him, and left the inn. The
officer set about trying to contact the embassy and after scme little while
he succeeded in getting through. The Embassy told him they could not help
us from Barcelona because the area was too mountainous and the way the
mountains were situated it would take days for them to get to us. They told
him that the main Embassy was in Madrid and that they would contact them
for us and arrange to try and get us out of there. Now all we could do is
wait. We all walked the town to take in the sights, such as they were. It
consisted of one main road with most of the buildings aleong this on both
sides of the road. I recall a bridge built of stone over a rather small run
of water. We sat on the bridge and scaked up the sun, enjoying the first
real relaxation for many a day. We returned to the inn for lunch and dinner
and as I recall, the food was not too bad. But then, four days and four
nights without food can make anything seem good. We had learned not to be
too fussy. We never could figure who was paying for our keep. It is true
that in our case perhaps the Spanish government had been assured by the
United States that they would pay for our keep, but what about the
civilians that were with us? We had no money to speak of and I am fairly

certain the others also were in the same position.

That night we went to bed early because we were still exhausted as
well as the fact that there was nothing to do to amuse ourselves. The next
morning we awoke, John and I, in the same bed. I took one look at him and
had a fit. He was a mass of red welts all over. I thought he had caught
something so I told him about his condition. He just looked at me and said
I didn't look any better than he did. It turned out that the place was
alive with bed bugs so from then on we slept with the lights on. The second

or third day we heard scme shouting outside and we rushed out to find some

- 30 -



of our people walking with the man we had left behind in the barn. Believe
me, he was a mess. The poor fellow was tired beyond belief and looked like
the devil. Unshaven, gaunt, wild eyed and also very mad, he was a sight to
behold. We really thought we would never ses him again. He felt we had
abandoned him and indeed he was right. We did not follow proper procedure
prior to leaving the barn that morning, but then consider that we had never
been through anything like this before and we had never been briefed on how
to handle the situation. We admitted we were wrong and that it was not
intentional and he could see for himself the concern we had for his well
being so when he calmed down he forgave us and said he now understood. I
sometimes think he kept going because all he wanted to do was get to all
of us and perhaps kill us. The amazing thing about his arrival was the fact
that being alone and not knowing the area, he merely proceeded straicht
ahead uphill and down, trying to maintain a straight line to the south. Our
guide knew the best way and I am sure saved us a lot of hard climbing. Cur
journey was not that easy, but we were appalled at what our comrade must
have gone through. Another odd thing about this is, that he would arrive so
close to our final destination. It makes you think that perhaps scmeone was
watching over him, at least I iike to think that this was the case.

A few days later, we were all called tcgether and informed that
arrangements had been made for us to be transported to another place and
that we should be ready to move out the next morning early. We had nothing
to pack so we could leave on a maments notice. We had been able to bathe
but we had not been able to wash any clothing, including our underwear so

we were all a little ripe.

The next morming, after breakfast, we were told to go to the road and
wait. We did. After a short time, a truck came along with a load of logs.
They were piled high and tied down with ropes to keep them in place. This
was our ride-..o.ut of there. Not first class, but better than walking, so we
climbed aboard and off we went. We had two more to our group at this point,
a young couple, but who they were or why they came out with us I never
knew and since they were Spanish, we were not able to talk to them. The
ride was not the most pieasant trip I have ever taken but in that rugged

terrain it sure beat walking.
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We rode most of the day, passing men at work in the fields, and
sighting quite a few wrecked vehicles, tanks and trucks, just abandoned in
the ravines. These were left fram the Spanish civil war, left to rot and
rust as a monument to man's inability to get along, even with his own
people. The truck was old, very slow. and the road was cuite steep both up
and down. The day was most pleasant and not too hot, even though we were
right out in the sun. We proceeded in this fashion until late in the
afternoon finally, arriving at a place with a wall around it. Scme people
came out, ordered us down and into the walled area. We sat on the ground or
walked around to stretch our legs, walting for the next episcde to unfold.
Each time things seered certain, we were faced with a new situation and our

nerves would begin to get raw again.

It wasn't long until a man appeared and ushered cne of our people into
the building. In about five minutes our man reappeared and another perscn
was taken inside. We all crowied around the first man, asking what was
going on in there? He said he had been questioned as to his identity and
why he was in Spain. He said he explained that he was an American airman
and was escaping the Germans and wanted to rejoin his unit in England. This
presented no problem, he said, until they had him turn out his pockets and
discovered his French identity book. This , of course, had his picture but
another name, place of birth, and occupation. They did not seem happy with
this but kept the book and told him to go back into the yard. His advice to
us was, get rid of the book, and fast. We all, that is the military people,
got our books out and heaved them over the wall. I really hated to do this
because it would have been a beautiful souvenir to keep for rememberance,
Soon encugh, my turn came, and I was taken before a man at a table in the
house. He spoke very good english, qguesticoning me as the first man had said
as to why I was in the country in an illegal fashion. I also explained why
I was there and having nothing in my pockets to contradict my story, I was
quickly returned to the yard.

When everyone had been interrogated, the military personnel was
directed to the gate and we left the walled area to find a bus waiting,
along with a small dark haired man that proved to be a Spanish fellow that
worked for the American Council in Madrid. OQur other campanions were left
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behind to their fate, and until today, I often wonder what happened to
them. It would be painful to even for a moment consider the possibility
that they were turned back and into the hands of the Germans. We were well
aware that Spain had leaned toward Germany all through the war because of
the aid Franco had received from Hitler during Spain's civil war.
e

The bus started up and off we went, in style this time. We were taken
& short distance to a town by the name of Lérida. The bus went to the
center of town, stopping in front of a large store of many floors. It was,
in fact, a department store. Our man from the embassy told us we were to
get new clothes and because it was so late in the day, all the clerks were
gone but the store was being held open for us. Unbelieveable! We all went
in the store and up to the men's department. We were instructed to pick out
a suit, new shoes, two pairs of socks, two sets of underwear, two shirts,
and one tie. Our selections were listed by a man in the store and we were
ushered back to the bus for ancother short ride.

We were taken to a spa type resort that had hot springs baths with
high sulfer and the odor to go along with it. We were given nice clean,
albeit small, rocms and the view of "the surrounding area was beautiful. We
could coame and go as we pleased but again had to be in at dark and stay
within the confines of the spa. How we forget the small pleasures of life.
What a treat to take a bath and get into fresh clothes. My shoes, which
were G.I. issue but dyed black, were held on by a series of small pieces of
shoe lace. The only laces we could get to replace the brown laces were made
of rayon. Now, rayon,. whem wet, gets weak andf$reaks so I wound up with
small pieces to hold the shoes -on. You think this was a problem? John
Katsaros was walking- in shoes a ¢couple of sizes too small for himp He had
big feet and the people that helped him did the best they could. Imagine
walking for weeks in shoes a couple sizes tco small. At last he had a paLr
that fit. I must tell you here, that at no time through all the trip, from
Paris to the spa, did John ever complain that his feet were killing him. I
guess the poor guy was so shot up he hurt worse elsewhere. The food was
good and there was plenty of it, the only problem was, they used oil for
all their cooking. Have you ever seen fried eggs, beautiful to lock at,
sliding around on the serving platter in a sea of oil, We tried to get them

- 33 -



to cook the eggs and other stuff with butter but they acted as though they
couldn't understand what we wanted. I'll tell you this, between the oil and
the beautiful big red ripe cherries and other fruit we could get, we were
in a bad way. Cur systems could not handle all this and we more than paid

the price.

Things were starting to move fast now because we were not at the spa
very long, perhaps a week, when we were put on another bus and taken to a
town called Zaragoza, loaded on a train and off we went to Madrid. Upon our
arrival we were taken directly to the American embassy and one at a time ,
again gquestioned. This time our people wanted, to hear about any information
we might have regarding troop movements, German emplacements, tank
deployment and other related information. When this was firished, we were
told that we would be moved right along, the next day, to the British in
Gilbralter. Consequently, we never were able to see anything of the city of
Madrid.

The next morning we were again put on a train which proceeded to
Granada and on to La Linea de la Concepcidn, or as it is generally called,
Ia Linea. This little town is right near the entrance to the Gibralter
fortifications held by the British, even to this day. We actually walked
from the town to the gates of Gibralter and were paS:Sed through with no
delay. This indicated to us that we were expected. At last we were safe and

again among our own people

The records 1 have obtained {rcm the government show that we arrived
at Gibraltar cn the 13th of June. _lI thought we might have a chance to see
sare of this famous Rock, the monkeys, the gun emplacements and and
whatever else might be of interest but that was not to be the casé. We were
ushered into..a room and told to get out of the civilian clothes we were
wearing. We were to turn in the clothes we had received at lerida in the
store and we were issued G.I. underwear, snhoes, socks, pants,a shirt and a
fatigue jacket. We were allowed to spend the rest of the day as we pleased

as long as we did not venture into any areas marked "OFF LIMITS".

As I wandered about looking at the rocks and the sea, I came across a
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sailor and he was carrying a brown paper bag full of watches. He said that
he had come from Africa where he had been able to get these watches for a
song and did I want to buy one?. Now, I had given my watch to the French
people that helped me so0 I was in need cf cne. I asked him the price and he
said twelve dollars. I looked at the watches and did not recognize the name
and thinking he was a fast dealer, I decided not to buy. The name on the
watches was CMEGA. I later learned this is one of the finest watches made.

Such is life.

It was getting dark so I returned to the area we had been assigned to
only to learn we were to fly cut the next day, if the weather permitted. We
had dinner in the mess hall and went to bed. The next night was bright and
clear , real flying weather, so we were driven to the airfield, put on a
plane and told we were bound for England. The flight was uneventful and we
landed at Bristol where we were put on a bus, under guard, and taken to
London. We were installed in a large manor house that was used by the
American Military Intelligence Service.

We were held here and interrogated in detail. They wanted to get as
much information as they could from what we could remember and also our
individual stories of escape or evasion for their future use. We were not
to be allowed to leave the building until someone that actually knew us and
could identify us arrived. For me this was a two day wait and fortunately
for me our tail gqunner on our crew was still at 'E‘ghe base. The rest of my
crew had heen shot down while I was in France, trying to get back. The
man's name was Chuck Pryne, and was I glad te see him. He vouched for me
and signed scme papers to indicate he was telling the truth. We were
allowed to leave the building for an afterncon of relaxation and we did
just that., As a matter of fact, we hit several bars and got stiff as a
billy goat. Chuck went back to the Group the next day, and I was sent to
Eighth Air Corps headquarters to get my records and then I went to my Group
to have the records brought up to date and to be paid. My instructions were

to return to London and prepare to try and find a seat on a plane hame.

When I had everything taken care of at the Group, which , by the way,
was located by the town of Rattlesden, I caught a train to return to London
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so I could begin to try and find space on a plane headed back to the
States. The train arrived in London late and I took a cab back to the house
we had been detained in upon our arrival from Spain. I rang the bell, it
was answered by an enlisted man, and he informed me that I could no longer
stay there since I had been cleared for transport home. He suggested I go
to a Red Cross shelter. I walked the few blocks to the shelter, requested a
bed, but was informed they were filled and that I should try the annex.
This was another building a few blocks away, so I was able to walk there
also. Upon arriving, I was again told there was no room at the inn. What to
do? The man at the desk suggested I go to the underground (subway) and
spend the night there where it would be safe from the buzz bombs, then

return in the morning and use their facilities to cliean up.

I did just that, spending the night with the civilians on the tile
floor of the underground with the children crying all night and the trains
coming through until about midnight. We had a terrible attack of buzz bembs
all through the night. We could hear the close ones as they exploded even
though we were way down in the ground. It is odd, now that I think of if,
but I did get scme sleep on that hard surface , in spite of all the
inconvenience. The next morning everyone gathered up their things and left
to go about that days work. I went back to the Red Cross annex to clean up
cnly to find that it had been hit during that night's attack, leaving
nothing standing and all the men inside killed. Mot one survivor remained.
I must tell you, this really shook me up. I had not only escaped with my
life frcam the plane, when it went down, but now a second miracle had
occurred. I went to the regular Red Cross building to use their facilities
and then proceeded to the place I had been told to report to each day and

was told that there was no room for me on any plane that day.

As near .as I can recall, 1 was about four days trying to catch a ride
ncome. Cne day , when I inquired about my chances, I was told that there was
room for me on a flight out the next day. They gave me the necessary papers
and also the train tickets to Scotland. The train departed each evening
from London and made the return trip the next morning from Scotland. This
was one of the longest days of my life and I thought evening would never

ccme. At last evening came and I boarded the train for the near end of my
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saga. With any luck, I would be home within twenty four hours.

we made the trip through the night and I dozed, off and on. Although I
was tired, I was also very excited. I was to see my wife and daughter in
not too many hours. Upon arriving in Scotland, I went to the appointed
place to report in and get my assignment for the flight home. I knew that
it was always a possibility that some higher qualified person might bump me
frem the flight, after all, there was a war on and some things took
precedent over others. As it happened, there was no problem at all. I was
to leave within the hour, and we did. I really did not rest easy until we

were off the ground and on our way.
I had been shot down April 27th, 1944 and arrived in Spain May 27th,
England June 15th, and back home early in July. How could so much happen in

so short a time?

And so now you know the story..
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Jack with Marcel & son 1n Parils



Back home safely (age 23)

Ravages of time (age 70)



Paris the 30th of October, 1946

Dear Uncle, Aunt , Cousins:

I have received a letter from your brother in law, telling me you had
received my letter after the liberation of Paris, but that your letter of
reply to me was returned. It is with great regret that I did not get that
letter for I thought of you frequently during the occupation by the Germans
because I lodged American soldiers who fell by parachute after their

airplanes were shot down.

I still correspond with one of them, he is very grateful and we write
often. If, however, you wish to have the details of my activities during
the occupation, it would be easy to correspond with him, Jack W. Stead ,312
Devonshire St., Dearborn, Michigan, USA.

My dear uncle, in particular, 1 want very much to have a visit with my
cousins for they are certainly in the army, but your brother in law has
written to me that they will not be coming to France. I think that they
will return home in good health

You have a large family because I had the occasion to see a photograph of

aunt Antoni's home.

This happened to us. My eldest brother Louis who was in his prime and his
son were interned in Dachau, he for two years, -his son for 18 months. He
was depressed but was in passably good health. The second, Raymond, is
returning to St. Julien de Gassagnas, he is retired from the Paris police.
The third, Rene, is employed by the railroad at Amberieu. Me, I am since
1927, with the Paris police with the rank of Inspector Principal, I have a
very good office and a few years before retirement. On to the youngest,
Marceau, he was an envoy in 1941 to Saigon, we received a postcard about

the liberation of Indochina but since then, no news.

My family is not as large as yours, I have one daughter who is eleven years

old and one son of six years of age, they are both in good health.



My friend Staed (Stead), the American, told me by his letter that things
are not back to normal, the war has touched America. The land of plenty (
Unites States) is surely less hit because our poor France was hit hard.

Life is very difficult but the help always arrives to relieve the siltuation.

I do not know, my dear uncle, if you will ever have the occasion to come to
France, but if scme time , by chance, you turned up in France, 1 will be

happy tc see you.

While waiting to hear from you, dear uncle, aunt and cousins, accept our

most sincere affection.

Guyon Marcel
103 Rue de Haies
- 20 éme Arrondissment

Paris, (Seine)



paris le . JSctobDre IS46

Chors Inele, tante,cousins,covoins.

J1tai recu,unc letto2 de votre beau-frirs
mtannonca it que vous aviez bDlsn recu ma lettre aprés la
libération de Paris mais que votre lettre me falscant répons-
se vous €talt retournde.Clect avec grand regret que jentai
pas eu cetso lettre car souvent j'al penséd a vous pendant
1toccupation a llemande car j'ail héibergé des soldats Améri-
cains tombis enr parachute aprés cue 1. ~vion %teit abattu.

- Je corresponds toujours avece wa dtentre cux
11 est tres roconnaissant ot news cerit couvont.di toutefois
vous désirez avoir cas détails cur mon activité pendant 1voc.
cupation,il vous ceralt fa cile de corruspondre avee lui.
Jack ¥.Stead,312 Devonshire St.Jearborn,Michigan U.3.4A.

Mon cher oncle jr'aurn 1 bien voulu-avoir In
-1:lte de mes cousins ca r il 7 en avaif surcmint a 1'armde
maic votre bea u-frére mla ecrit gqu'ils nt!“talent pac .z
en France.Je penze nifils sont rentrés en bonne santsd.

Vous a&vez uwe grande famill: car j'ail eu
1?occasion dc roir une phofto clicrs Tante Antoni.

Quand.a nous,poix frdre ainé,louls 2 <t inter
né pendant deux ans-et son f£1lc interné a Jachmu pendant
I8 mois,1lls sont rentrds ¢t cont nmaintenant en accez bornns
sant4 .Le 28me,faymond,afest retir? a 3t Jullen de Cascagnas
11 est retralud de Ja Police Tavisienne.le Timz,lend,cct
employé aux chemins de fer & Amdbirieu.llol je culs depuls 12T
a la Folice Parisienne sn qua 1ité d'Inspectewr Trincipsl
j?al vz tres bomme pla ce et encore quelques anndes pour
a retra ite.Qua nd au dernier,Mapccaun,il a eté envoyc en
54l a Salgon,nus a&vons recu une carte & la libération
de 1!'Indochine mals depuls aucuwic nouvelle.

Ma famillc n'est pas asuccu rande cug la voto
jtal une £ille qui & onze anc et wa fils de cix ans,ilc cont
tous deux en bonne sa ntif :

“fon emi Sta ed dfémerique me it sur ca lettr
gue les choses ne sont pac eincore revenucs normalds,la gusrr
a touché l7amérique .Le pays de cocagne{ZtateTais)est curemen
moine touché car notre pauvre Francee.t Disn touchée.La vie
sot tres difficile mais lo franpails arrive ftoujours a releve:
la situation.

H-

Je nc cais Ton caer cincle £l vous aurez ltec-
goslon e venrir en Fra nce maic ci Soute fois le rasard le
rous amengit en Pra nce,je serais heureux de vousvoir.

-n atterdnut de vous lire,recevez chers oncle
tante,coucincs,coucing nos amitiés les plus zinocdresf

GUY2YN farcal
~C3 rue ceg Hajes
?0&me Arrondiscen
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Tous sommes tréc heurceux doc regcevoly
vos niuvellss et je crois que vous n'aveu pas racu la dem
lettre qus j¢ vius ai trémzmise car j$ vous lndigual cesa:
cre nous avions recu t*ois colls Gu qui'ils avaisnt £t8 I
51 nvenus .fous avons eu deux colils dfalimentation et un o
ac votementas .Fadena Paulette etalt tres heursuse,nous vou

nercionsz infiniment mals nous ne voulcns pas abuser de vo

bonté. o

Vous dites sur votre letire que votre

de cocaéne est touché aussi par la guerre,ll est triste d

on pays comme Lo votre deux ans aprés ne pas avolr retrow

: vie normale.Quand a la Frange nous avons subl l'occupatio
N allemande pendant quatre annfec,les destructions des alle
et zussl les bombardsments un paya qul stait le bercszu

- monde et anjourdrhul nous scommes ruines et nous allons ve:

.Makla* aillita ot malgre Ztonk naasrplvenans. avec les erné
e FETST ??%E 'E%f?ﬁ?E’%?avan .gusTIs .La vie est tﬂa

comme nous avons tenu,ﬁéce aux boches pendant quatBe ans.
I - Bien souvent nous H¥WERX pensons aux .
heures sombres de ces ;années .mais nous nlavons pius cette
‘graine Nazl sur le dos.Nous avons lutté dens 1'ombre ¢ omm,
. de valllants soldats sans uniforme et meintenant 1l nous
commencer une nouvelle 1utte pour le bilen &tre de notre p‘
. 1iDe tous les dangers que nous avons b
le plus grand danger ‘4 6t& celul do la libération de Pafi.
car avec les armes que nous avicns nous avons reussi & ghi
17allemand da notra grand P&r1= abrés cinq jours de comba

dans les TUEE . - . v R g
_ o : . \_‘ﬂ'al passé des Jours tristes sand dOJ
P st cans rentrer a 12 §maison.Paullette a &té un seldsat sal

reproche et & établiiw lé contact permanent entre’le. 5§4ﬁ
.. réslstancs et moxn qu&rtler géneral de commendement et de:

Ti va: J an e L&
“;Je,panae quab s‘enfa_nt% grandissent'at qu'

453 T

on bonne ‘Bantd ainsii '"-vous deux..:w” St




Paris, Nov 2, 1546

Dear Friends:

We are very happy to receive your news and I believe that you have not
received the last letter that I sent to you, for I have indicated to you
above that we have received three parcels and that they have been very
welcome. We have had two food packages and a parcel of clothing. Madam
Paulette was very happy. We thank you again infinitely, but we do not want

to abuse your goodness.

You say, in your letter, that your land of milk and honey is touched
also by the war. It is sad to see a country such as yours 2 years after the
war not having returned to normal life. When France was under the German
occupation for 4 years, the destruction by the Germans and also the bombing
of a country that was the cradle of the world and today we are destroyed
and we are going toward bankruptcy and ail of us, as years go by, wil)
£ind again our equilibrium from before the war. Life is very hard, maybe
more than during the occupation but we have the willingness and with ihis
quality we shall conquer the crisis as we have kept our heads high with the

Germans for 4 years.

Very often we think of the somber hours of those years, but now we no
longer have this Nazi seed on our back. We have light in the darkness from
the valiant soldiers without uniforms and now we can begin a new struggle

for the well being of our country.

Of all the dangers that we have braved, the greatest danger has been
that of the liberation of Paris for with the arms that we had, we succeeded
in chasing the CGermans from our great Paris after 5 days of fighting in ihe

streets.

I have gone through days without sleep and without going hcme.
Paulette has been & soldier above reprcach and has established the
permanent contact between the central resistance and my general quarters of

camand, and of ccmbat as a liaison agent.

-1 -



We have each received an award from the American army for our aid to
the Allies and also, I hope, the Medal of Liberty which was created by the

American authorities.

I have seen John (the man that first picked up Jack Stead in the
country) and we have chatted at length about you. I think many times of
your babies and hope they are well and also both of you.

Your friend,
Marcel

I send you my uncles address who has been in America for a iong time
so some time , 1f you wish to write him a note, his family is very nice, I

have cousins {male and female) who are with then.

Monsieur et Madame Guyon Paul
R.F.D. No3 Box 140
Irwin
West-moreland Co. Pennsylvania
U.S. North-America

I wish to convey te you the receipt of your parcel and it has arrived

in good shape.
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1670 Jefferson Avenve
BUFFALO 8, N. Y.

February 3, 19245

s/Szt. Jack W. Stead
212 - 15th Street
Sloux City, Iowa

Dear Seegeant:

Au

Congratulations on your recent emergency parachute jump! It
ig indeed gratifying to know that parachutes are daily serving
their purpose and proving their worth.

We are vleased to inform von that your eXverience entitles
you to membership in the Caterpillar Club, and we are accordlngly
enrolling your nams on the roster of the Club

Thne Irving Air Chute Comvanv has sponsored this Club since
its inception twenty years ago, and it is our endeavor to maintain
our records as ccmplete and authentic as nossible. You may be
interested in knowing that there are thousands of members enrolled
in this Club, which lists persons from all over the world. The
war, of course, has greatly increased the membership rolls which
now include personnel in training in the States, and thoss who
used their parachutes in combat areas, a2s well as hundreds of
pilots and their crews who have baled out over enemy territcry
and subsequently been taken prisoners of war.

In connection with our records, therefore, we would appreci-
ate receiving additional information relative to the incident,
which may be submitted in the form of a newspaper clipping or an
offidavit of & witness, together with a short nersonal account
giving particularly your reactions and impressions of the Jjuwp.

It is also our cusitom to present to each new member the offi.
cial ingignia-of the Club, engraved with his name and the date of
his emergency jump. We are heving vour nin made and engraved, zand
ghall forward it to you when completed, together with the member-
ship card of the Club. Please advise the date of your jump.

We await further word from you with interest and welcome you
into the Caterpillar Club.

‘ Very truly yours,

iy A(R m

Recording Secretary
ny CATRTROTTT AR MTIR



